Todd M Leventhal, Esq.
Leventhal and Associates, PLLC
Nevada Bar: 8543
626 S. 3rd Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
702-472-8686 -Office
702-472-8685- Fax
Leventhalandassociates@gmail.com
Attorneys for Defendant

Electronically Filed Jul 13 2022 12:29 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF NEVADA

JEMAR MATTHEWS,	Case No. 84339	
Appellant		
V.		
STATE OF NEVADA,		
Respondent		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Jurisdictional and Routing Statement

This direct appeal follows a judgment of conviction entered after a jury trial. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal as a final judgment or verdict in a criminal case under NRS § 177.015.3. This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because (1) this is an appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a guilty verdict that involves a conviction for a category A felony for which a sentence of life with the possibility of parole was imposed and (2) this appeal challenges the conviction (and not merely the sentence) and is not based solely on a sufficiency of the evidence challenge. NRAP 17(b)(2).

Statement of Issues

- I. Did the district court err by summarily accepting the state's reasons for striking minority juror Hughes, and denying Matthews's *Batson* challenge?
- II. Did the district court err by summarily accepting the state's reasons for striking minority juror Collins, and denying Matthews's *Batson* challenge?
- III. Was there sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction beyond a reasonable doubt?

Statement of the Case

A. Mersey Williams is murdered on September 30, 2006.

This is an appeal from a second retrial in a first-degree murder case.

Around 9:00 p.m. on September 30, 2006, Mersey Williams, Myniece Cook, and Michel-le Tolefree went to Maurice Hickman's home located at 1271 Balzar Avenue in Las Vegas. 3 AA 0579. As the women and Hickman stood in Hickman's front yard, four to five males approached and opened fire on the group, ultimately killing Mersey Williams and wounding Myniece Cook. 3 AA 0587. Moments later, three to four black men carjacked two couples parking a Lincoln town car at 1284 Lawry Avenue, about one block from 1271 Balzar. 5 AA 0971. After ordering the passengers out of the car, the assailants drove the Lincoln down Lawry Avenue, turning left on Martin Luther King Drive. 4 AA 0731.

Meanwhile, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department Officers Brian

Walter and Bradley Cupp were patrolling the area and heard gunfire. 3 AA 0546.

The officers drove by 1271 Balzar, but observed no signs of trouble, so they continued on down Lawry, where they saw a "commotion," at 1284 Lawry (the carjacking). 3 AA 0687. Their suspicions aroused, the officers followed the Lincoln, which rolled through a red light. 3 AA 0690. The officers then activated

their patrol lights and sirens; the suspects accelerated through the next red light, and the officers gave chase. Id.

The chase continued to a church parking lot near the corner of Eleanor Avenue and Lexington Street, where the Lincoln slowed down; the driver, who was holding a sawed-off shotgun, fell or jumped out of the car. 3 AA 0694. The police car hit the driver, who rolled up onto the driver's side hood of the police car (Officer Cupp's side) before rolling off on the passenger side (Officer Walter's side) and taking off on foot. 3 AA 0695.

In addition to the driver, two other black men jumped out of the passenger side of the Lincoln. 3 AA 0699. Officer Cupp elected to chase the front passenger, who was armed with a handgun, while Officer Walter chased the driver. Id.

Officer Walter chased the driver north on Lexington Street and then East on Eleanor Avenue, where he lost sight of the driver after the driver jumped over a chain-link fence. 4 AA 0921. Meanwhile, Officer Cupp watched the front passenger jump over a wall and pursued him into an apartment complex. There, police found him hiding in a dumpster, along with a pair of black baseball gloves and a .45-caliber Glock. 4 AA 0837. The passenger was identified as Pierre Joshlin.

Police recovered a jammed .45-caliber Colt pistol from the Lincoln, and a .22 caliber rifle from the grass between the Lincoln and the church. Police also found a single red-knit glove about one block north of the church. 3 AA 0561. Police set up a perimeter around the neighborhood to search for the still-missing suspects.

About an hour to an hour and a half after the foot chase began, a K9 unit found Jemar Matthews hiding in the bushes behind a house at 1116 Jimmy Avenue. The dog attacked Matthews, biting him and drawing blood. 4 AA 0893. Matthews was then transported in handcuffs and a police car to Officer Walter, who identified him as the suspect driver. 4 AA 0891.

B. Jemar Matthews and Pierre Joshlin are jointly tried and convicted of the murder and related crimes.

In May of 2007, Matthews and Joshlin were tried for the murder of Mersey Williams and related crimes.¹ At trial, a toolmark analyst testified that ten of the

¹ This factual summary of the evidence at the first trial is offered for background purposes only and is derived from the federal district court's orders in Joshlin v. Neven, 2016 WL 4491503 (D. Nev. Aug. 25, 2016) (Dorsey, J.), Case No. 2:13-cv-01014-JAD-NJK and Matthews v. Neven, 250 F.Supp.3d 751 (D. Nev. 2017), Case No. 2:14-cv-00472-GMN-PAL.

39 cartridge cases recovered from 1271 Balzar were fired from the Glock found with Joshlin in the dumpster. Eleven, including the bullet that killed Mersey Williams, were fired by the rifle found near the Lincoln. Officers Cupp and Walter identified Matthews and Joshlin as the suspects they had chased, while the surviving shooting and carjacking victims were unable to identify Matthews.² A forensic analyst also testified that gunshot residue was recovered from one of the black gloves in the dumpster with Joshlin and on the red glove found on the sidewalk near where the foot chase began. To explain his presence in the area and his hiding from police, Matthews offered a temporary protective order prohibiting his presence at Jimmy Avenue. The jury convicted both men on all counts, and each received a sentence of life in prison.

Over the next several years, both men unsuccessfully appealed their convictions, ultimately filing post-conviction petitions in federal district court.³ In August of 2016, a federal district court judge denied Joshlin's petition based on

² Tolefree was able to identify Joshlin.

³ See Nevada Supreme Court Case Nos. 49947, 58881, 62241, 50052; U.S. District Court Case Nos. 2:14-cv-00472-GMN-PAL (Matthews), 2:13-cv-01014-JAD-NJK (Joshlin).

her finding that any trial errors were harmless in light of the "overwhelming" evidence against him.⁴

In March of 2017, a different federal district court judge granted Matthews's petition. She found, as did this Court, that the state had committed prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument and rebuttal by telling the jurors to look at Matthews and Joshlin—both of whom are black men—and arguing that they did not "look" innocent.⁵ The judge also found that the state committed misconduct by arguing that if the defendants weren't guilty, then they wouldn't be challenging the gunshot-residue evidence.

But the federal district court judge disagreed that these errors were harmless, distinguishing the state's case against Matthews from that against Joshlin:

The evidence against Matthews—while sufficient to support his convictions, if viewed in the light most favorable to the State[]—had obvious weaknesses and was far from overwhelming. Unlike Joshlin, who was found in a dumpster with a handgun linked to the shooting, there was no evidence directly linking Matthews to either the

⁴ Joshlin, 2016 WL 4491503, *1.

⁵ Matthews, 250 F. Supp.3d at 763

shooting or the robbery. About an hour to an hour and a half after the foot chase ended, Matthews was found hiding in a backyard about a block from where the foot chase ended, and some four to five blocks from where the shooting and robbery occurred. The defense suggested, and it remains a possibility, that Matthews had reason to fear apprehension by police other than—and less egregious than—having participated in the shooting and robbery [, the TPO].6

The judge also reasoned that many of the victim-witnesses' descriptions did not match Matthews. Additionally, Officers Walter and Cupp had a limited opportunity to view the fleeing suspect that both would later identify as Matthews, and Walter's description of that suspect appeared to grow more detailed (and more consistent with Matthews) over time.⁷

C. The first retrial

Matthews's second trial commenced in September of 2018—twelve years after the murder. The evidence at the second trial was largely the same as that presented during the first trial. Below is a brief summary as relevant to this appeal.

⁶ Id. at 765.

⁷ Id. at 766.

1. Jury selection

During jury selection, the state exercised its fifth peremptory strike to remove prospective Juror No. 342, a black woman. Matthews made a Batson challenge, arguing that the state had impermissibly struck No. 342 due to her race. Before the court ruled on whether Matthews had made a prima facie showing of discrimination, the state interjected and proffered a race-neutral reason: it claimed that No. 342 gave "tenuous" responses when asked about being fair and impartial and that she "kind of hesitated and rolled her eyes." Matthews disputed the state's assertions and argued that they were merely pretext. The district court made no specific findings and summarily overruled Matthews's objection.

2. The Conviction

Mr. Matthews was convicted of all counts by the jury in the second trial.

3. The Appeal

On appeal, this Court reversed, finding that:

Because the record significantly belies the State's nondemeanor explanations for using a peremptory challenge on Juror 342, thus indicating the explanations were pretextual, and because the district

⁸ This summary is taken from Defendant's Opening Brief in the Appeal of the first retrial.

court did not fully engage in the sensitive inquiry and consideration required at step three in the Batson analysis, we conclude the district court clearly erred in denying Matthews' Batson objection. This constitutes structural error.

D. The Second Retrial

Matthews's second retrial and third trial commenced in November of 2021.

The evidence at the third trial was largely the same as that presented during the first and second trials. Below is a brief summary as relevant to this appeal.

1. Jury selection

During jury selection, the state exercised a peremptory strike to remove prospective Juror No. 344, a black woman named Christina Hughes. 3 AA 0495. Matthews made a Batson challenge, arguing that the state had impermissibly struck No. 344 due to her race. The State claimed that their race-neutral reason was that Hughes had failed to disclose a previous arrest. 3 AA 0499-0500. Matthews disputed the State's assertions and argued that they were merely pretext. 3 AA 0503-0506. The district court denied the Batson objection. 3 AA 0507.

The State also exercised a peremptory strike against another Black woman, juror 360, Karen Collins. Matthews brought a Batson challenge. The State alleged as a race-neutral reason that, despite Ms. Collins being a law enforcement officer,

she had expressed doubts regarding the fairness of the criminal justice system in her questionnaire. 3 AA 0508. Matthews argued that this was pretextual. 3 AA 0511-0512. The court denied the Batson challenge on the basis that the State had stated a race-neutral reason. 3 AA 0516.

2. The State's case

The State's first witnesses were Myniece Cook and Michel-le Tolefree. Ms. Tolfree testified that she saw four to five silhouettes but could not identify their race or any clothing. 3 AA 0601. Tolefree was able to identify Joshlin but not Matthews.

Two of the carjacking victims, Melvin Bolden and Geishe Bolden (Orduno) also testified. Melvin Bolden testified that there were three to four assailants, all black males between 17–18 years old. Two of the men had black and red gloves on. Melvin described the suspect who got into the driver's seat as 5'7" or shorter (Matthews is five feet eleven inches tall), and indicated that he would not be able to identify any of the assailants. 3 AA 0360. Geishe testified that there were four assailants; one was wearing a white shirt while the rest were in black. One man was wearing red gloves and was 5'5" or possibly a little taller, although she admitted having previously described him as shorter. 3 AA 0676.

Forensic scientist Crystina Vachon testified about gunshot residue. She testified that gunshot residue (particles containing a fusion of lead, barium, and antimony) was present on the black gloves from the dumpster, the red glove, and Joshlin and Matthews's hands. 5 AA 1088. As to Matthews, that included three partial particles on the right palm; one partial particle on the back of the left hand; and one partial particle on the back of the left hand. Id. (when looking for gunshot residue, looking for a fusion of three elements: barium, led, and antimony).

Matthews cross-examined Vachon about possible transfer of gunshot residue and possible issues with contamination and preservation, which she acknowledged. 5

AA 1106.

The lynchpin of the state's case was the testimony of Officers Walter and Cupp. Officer Walter identified Matthews as the suspect driver, who he recalled was wearing blue jean shorts, a black t-shirt, and a red glove. 4 AA 0919. He further testified that, on the night of the shooting, he recognized the driver based on previous interactions in the neighborhood, though he wasn't then-sure of his name. Id.

On cross-examination, Walter admitted that he did not tell homicide detectives during his interview on the night of the shooting that he recognized the suspect driver from previous interactions. 4 AA 0919. On cross-examination, he

admitted that he had not told anyone at the scene that he recognized the driver, but only gave a general description of "[b]lack male, black shirt, blue jeans." 4 AA 0223-0224.

In his testimony, Cupp also identified Matthews as the suspect driver. 3 AA 0639. He also indicated that on the night of the shooting he recognized Matthews from previous interactions, but did not know his name. Like Walter, Cupp acknowledged that, on the night of the murder, he never indicated that he recognized or was familiar with Matthews. 3 AA 0675. And although he now claimed to be driving only five to ten miles per hour when he hit the suspect he identified as Matthews, Cupp acknowledged that he previously testified that he was traveling almost twice as fast. 3 AA 0687–0688.

Now-Sergeant Chad Overson, the K9 handler who ultimately found Matthews hiding in the bushes at 1116 Jimmy Avenue, also testified. Overson testified about his dog, Lasko's, training. Overson described how Lasco had detected and bitten Matthews. 4 AA 0893.

3. The defense's case

Matthews called two expert witnesses of his own: eyewitness-identification expert Dr. Mark Chambers and a firearms and ballistics expert, Ronald Scott. Dr. Chambers testified that studies show that eyewitness testimony is often inaccurate. 5 AA 1116. He explained that a witness's confidence does not equate with reliability; stress, fatigue, and the presence of weapons can negatively impact perception; and that cross-racial identifications are less reliable than intraracial ones. Id. He also opined that the show-up method used in this case is less reliable than a double blind sequential lineup. 5 AA 1119.

Mr. Scott testified that the presence of gunshot residue could be the result of transference. 5 AA 1152.

Matthews also called Andre Carter to the stand. Mr. Carter was a retired Metro detective. When investigating another crime, Mr. Carter interviewed one Nicholas Owens. 6 AA 0028. After discussing with Mr. Carter the other crime, Mr. Owens mentioned to Mr. Carter that Pierre Joshlin, Matthews' co-defendant had stated that he, Joshlin, was then planning to murder Marty Williams. The conversation took place in the presence of Mr. Matthews. However, only Mr. Joshlin discussed an intention to murder Mr. Williams; Mr. Matthews did not. 6 AA 0030.

4. Conviction and sentence

The jury convicted Matthews on all counts: conspiracy to commit murder; murder with use of a deadly weapon; attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon (three counts); possession of a short-barreled rifle; conspiracy to commit robbery; robbery with use of a deadly weapon (two counts); and assault with a deadly weapon (two counts). After waiving a penalty hearing on the first-degree murder count, the trial court sentenced Matthews to an aggregate sentence of life in prison with the possibility of parole after forty years. This appeal follows.

Summary of Argument

The district court erred by accepting the state's reasons for striking Juror Christina Hughes, a black juror and denying Matthews's Batson challenge. The district court failed to apply the well-established three-step Batson framework. The result is a hollow ruling entitled to no deference. Proper application of step three to this record shows that the state's proffered race-neutral reasons were pretextual. This is structural error requiring reversal.

Second, he district court likewise erred by accepting the state's reasons for striking Juror Karen Collins, a black juror and denying Matthews's Batson challenge. The district court failed to apply the well-established three-step Batson framework. The result is a hollow ruling entitled to no deference. Proper application of step three to this record shows that the state's proffered race-neutral reasons were pretextual. This is structural error requiring reversal.

Third, the evidence against Mr. Matthews was insufficient to sustain a conviction, as the non-law enforcement witnesses consistently described someone who differed from him significantly in height, dress, and hairstyle.

Finally, the cumulative effect of these trial errors require reversal because the issue of guilt and innocence was close, these errors are severe and numerous, and Matthews was sentenced to life in prison.

Argument

I. THE COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S BATSON CHALLENGE TO THE DISMISSAL OF JUROR CHRISTINA HUGHES

A. TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

1. The Voir Dire

a. The court questions the panel

The court posed initial questions to the panel as a whole. One question was whether anyone on the panel had been convicted of a felony. The court did not ask whether anyone had been convicted of a misdemeanor.⁹

b. The court questions Ms. Hughes

The Court initially seated 32 prospective jurors. Each side could exercise 8 challenges for the jury, and one additional challenge as to the alternates. In the group of 32, there were a total of four African-Americans. The State excused two

THE COURT: Has anyone on the panel been convicted of a **felony**? The record will reflect no response from the panel.

1 AA 0099 (emphasis added)

⁹ The entirety of the court's colloquy with the panel regarding prior convictions is as follows:

of those four.¹⁰ Those two included Prospective Juror No. 344, Christina Hughes, and Prospective Juror No. 360, Karen Collins. The first 32 also included a single Native American, Clayval Becenti.¹¹

The Court asked Ms. Hughes three questions: (1) how long she had resided in the jurisdiction, (2) what was her educational background, and (3) whether she could be a fair and impartial juror. Having learned that Ms. Hughes had small children at home, the court followed up with a fourth question, whether the children would be cared for if Ms. Hughes were to be called to serve as a juror.

Ms. Hughes responded that she had been in Clark County for ten years, that she was currently unemployed, caring for her disabled children, that, yes, she could be fair and impartial, and that, yes, her children would be cared for.¹²

The court then said, "[t]hank you very much for your willingness to be here," and moved on to question another potential juror.

c. The prosecutor questions Ms. Hughes

The State questioned several other jurors, and then came to Ms. Hughes.

After initially confusing Ms. Hughes with Ms. Collins (the other African

^{10 3} AA 0170

¹¹ 2 AA 0403-0404

¹² 1 AA 0125-0126

American woman on the panel)¹³, the State noted that Ms. Hughes had <u>not</u> filled out a jury questionnaire prior to voir dire. Ms. Hughes concurred that she had <u>not</u> filled out a questionnaire:

MR. GIORDANI: Oh, Ms. Hughes. I apologize. I believe you are one of the folks that we do <u>not</u> have a questionnaire for. Do you remember --

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 344: No.

MR. GIORDANI: -- filling out one of these?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 344: I didn't.

MR. GIORDANI: I'm sorry?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 344: I didn't fill out a

questionnaire. 14

The State then went on to pose additional questions to Ms. Hughes. At no time during the further questioning did the State either (a) revisit the issue of the questionnaire, or (b) ask Ms. Hughes any questions whatsoever about any arrests

¹³ MR. GIORDANI: Okay.... And you can pass the microphone down to -- is it Ms. Collins?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR NO. 344: Hughes.

MR. GIORDANI: Oh, Ms. Hughes. I apologize.

¹ AA 0197

¹⁴ Id. (Emphasis added)

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