IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEMAR MATTHEWS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 12 2022 12:00 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 84339

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TODD M. LEVENTHAL, ESQ. Nevada Bar #008543 Leventhal & Associates, PLLC 626 S. 3rd Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 472-8686 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it involves a jury verdict and conviction for a Category A felony.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE(S)

- 1. Whether the district court erred from denying Appellant's <u>Batson</u> challenges.
- 2. Whether sufficient evidence was presented to support a conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The conviction in this case marks the third time that a jury of Nevadans has convicted Jemar Matthews (hereinafter "Appellant"). His first conviction for eleven (11) felony counts, including First-Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, was in 2007. Appellant's first conviction was upheld by this Court and had sustained

habeas review until a federal district court granted Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Matthews v. Neven, 250 F.Supp.3d 751, 755 (D. Nev. 2017). The federal district court's granting of the petition resulted in Appellant being granted a second jury trial.

The case proceeded to retrial, and on September 15, 2017, the State filed an Amended Information charging Appellant with: Count 1 – Conspiracy to Commit Murder; Count 2 – Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Counts 3 through 5 – Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 6 – Possession of Short Barreled Rifle; Count 7 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery; Counts 8 and 9 – Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon; and Counts 10 and 11 – Assault with a Deadly Weapon. 1 AA 14-19. Appellant's trial began on September 24, 2018. On October 3, 2018, the jury found Appellant guilty on all counts. Appellant was sentenced on December 5, 2018, and a Judgment of Conviction was filed on December 7, 2018.

Appellant filed a timely appeal of his second conviction. Appellant's conviction was vacated by this Court because based on the record, or perhaps lack thereof, this Court should not determine that the <u>Batson</u> challenge should not have been granted. As such, the case was once again remanded for a new jury trial. Remittitur issued on August 3, 2020.

Appellant's third jury trial commenced on November 5, 2021. On November 15, 2021, Appellant was found guilty of Count 1 – Conspiracy to Commit Murder;

Count 2 – First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Counts 3-5 – Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 6 – Possession of a Short Barreled Rifle; Count 7 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery; Counts 8-9 – Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon; and Counts 10-11 – Assault with Use of a Deadly Weapon. Appellant and the State stipulated that he would be sentenced by the court instead of the jury.

Appellant was sentenced on February 4, 2022. On the First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon count, Appellant was sentenced to a life term of imprisonment with the possibility of parole after twenty years and an equal and consecutive term of twenty years for the weapons enhancement for a total of forty years to life. All other counts were ordered to be served concurrently with the murder count. An Amended judgment of Conviction was filed on February 24, 2022.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. FACTS PRESENTED AT TRIAL

On September 20, 2006, thirty-nine (39) shots were fired at 1271 Balzar Avenue in Las Vegas, Nevada. At the time of shooting began, Mersey Williams, 22 years old, Myniece Cook, 27 years old, and Michel'le Tolefree, 16 years old, and Maurice Hickman, the intended target, were all on the front porch of 1271 Balzar Avenue. Myniece, Michel'le, and Michael fortunately survived the shooting, but the youngest of the four, Mersey Williams, was shot to death.

Mersey, Myniece, Michel'le and Maurice had gathered at 1271 to celebrate Mersey's upcoming birthday. 3 AA 574. While the four were on the porch, Mersey noticed that someone was standing on the side of the house. 3 AA 584. When she pointed it out to the others, Maurice told them all to run. 3 AA 585.

As the group was running, Mersey was shot in the head. 3 AA 587. Myniece, who had been running with Mersey, was shot in the wrist. Mersey and Myniece both fell to the ground. Myniece pretended to be dead as shots continued to be fired, but Mersey did not need to pretend. 3 AA 590. Once the shooting stopped, a woman opened the front door of the house and Myniece ran inside. 3 AA 592. Michel'le, who was with Maurice, testified that she saw four or five guys involved with the shooting. 3 AA 623. She also saw a man leaving the scene with a black top and blue shorts. 3 AA 620.

At the time of the shooting, Melvin Bolden was returning from dinner with his wife and some friends. 3 AA 638. Melvin lived about a block away from 1271 Balzar Avenue. As Melvin was parking his car, an '86 Lincoln Town Car, he heard the gunshots coming from 1271 Balzar Avenue. 3 AA 640-641. Shortly thereafter, four men approached the car and told them to get out. 3 AA 642. One of the men pointed a gun at Melvin's head and told him to get out of the car and leave the keys. 3 AA 644. Melvin described the four individuals as four men wearing dark shirts, pants, and red and black gloves. 3 AA 644. Melvin also saw that two of the men had

visible guns; one had a shotgun while the other had a handgun. 3 AA 661. The four men then drove away in his car.

Around the same time, Officer Cupp and Officer Walter were driving in an unmarked police car that happened to be in the neighborhood. 3 AA 684. They drove towards the gunshots and saw a group of people arguing and the Lincoln Town Car drive off with three of the men. 3 AA 687. The officers followed the Lincoln, which was driving fast and without regards to any of the traffic laws. 3 AA 689. At no point during the pursuit did officers lose sight of the Lincoln. 3 AA 691.

As the car began to slow down on a residential road, the officers see the driver side door swing open and Appellant jumps out of the vehicle as its still moving. 3 AA 692. The officers recognized Appellant from their area command. 3 AA 684. Appellant was wearing a red glove and was holding a firearm which was shorter than a rifle, but larger than a handgun. 3 AA 692-694. Appellant was on 6 six to 7 feet away from the officers and was holding the firearm, so fearing for his safety Officer Cupp struck Appellant with his vehicle. During this episode, officers were able to again recognize the individual as Appellant. 3 AA 696. Appellant then got up and began running away from officers. 3 AA 696.

Officer Walter got out and started to chase Appellant on foot. 4 AA 920.

Officer Walter saw Appellant wearing a black shirt, blue shorts, and a red glove. 4

AA 918. The officer chased Appellant, jumped over several fences, but stopped

when he heard gunshots coming from the direction of where he left his car and partner. 3 AA 921. Other patrol officers were in the area, so Officer Walter decided to turn around and run back to where the car was in case Officer Cupp had gotten into a shooting. 4 AA 925. K9 officers had been on the scene and tracked Appellant to a backyard on Jimmy Street. 4 AA 893. Appellant was then arrested.

Officer Cupp ran after one of Appellant's co-conspirators, Pierre Joshlin, as he saw him run out of the Lincoln with a gun in his hand. 3 AA 699. While running, Joshlin turned and pointed the gun at Officer Cupp, so the officer fired three shots. 3 AA 703. Joshlin continued to run. 3 AA 704. Joshlin was found in a dumpster nearby and arrested. 3 AA 707. The black gloves and gun were found in the dumpster. 3 AA 708.

Close to where the Lincoln had crashed, there was a recovered .22 Ruger rifle with its stock barrel cut off and a 30-round magazine clip. 5 AA 979. The .22 caliber bullet was the same size of the bullet that was found during the autopsy of Mersey Williams. 5 AA 985. Gunshot residue was found on Appellant's right palm, left palm, and the back of his left hand. Gunshot residue was also found on the red glove recovered.

In addition to the testimony above, the jury also heard from witness Nicholas Owens who was involved with the shooting that occurred at 1271 Balzar Avenue. Owens knew both Appellant and Joshlin. 5 AA 1037. On September 29, 2006,

Joshlin, Appellant, and Owens were all talking about the murder of one of their friends, Marcus Williams. 5 AA 1039. As the conversation progressed, the three of them became angry about their friend's death and Joshlin asked Owens if he could get some guns. 5 AA 1042.

B. FACTS RELATED TO JURY SELECTION

1. The Voir Dire

a. The court questions the panel

The court began its voir dire by asking the panel general qualifying questions. These are questions that could outright prevent a person from serving on the jury. Appellant argues that in questioning the panel as a whole, the court only asked about felony convictions of any prospective jurors, and that it did not ask about misdemeanor convictions. 1 AA 0099. The assumption here is that a juror who did not disclose a misdemeanor conviction cannot be held responsible for failing to disclose a conviction that they were not asked about. However, evidence will clearly show that the district court later asks the jury panel about any prior arrests.

Appellant focusing on this portion without describing the rest of jury selection is misleading. In the very beginning of jury selection, the district court asked certain questions that would potentially disqualify a person from serving on the jury. The question of whether a person has been convicted of a felony was relevant to establish whether anyone was ineligible to serve as a juror. NRS 6.010 requires that the person

who has a felony conviction may not serve as a juror unless the potential civil rights have been restored. To this question of anyone being convicted of a felony, the panel answered in the negative and none of the potential jurors was removed for cause based on this question. 1 AA 0099.

The district court then sat the first potential thirty-two jurors and asked each of the jurors individual questions about themselves. Once that was completed, the court then asked general questions of the thirty-two potential jurors. One such questions was whether any of the potential jurors or anyone close to them was ever accused of a crime. 1 AA 0185. To this question, the entire jury panel responded in the negative.

b. The court questions Ms. Hughes (Juror 344)

As mentioned above, after asking the initial disqualifying questions to the entire jury panel, the court then asked each of the first thirty-two potential jurors a series of questions. The questions asked of Ms. Hughes (344) were no different from any of the other potential thirty-one jurors. The court asked her the following questions: how long she had lived in Clark County, her educational background, what she did for a living, if there was any reason she could not be a fair and impartial juror, and whether her children would be cared for if she were to serve as a juror. 1 AA 0125.

After the district court completed its individual questions of the potential jurors, the district court proceeded to again ask questions of the thirty-two potential jurors. The court informed them that the questions were to everyone as a whole, and that the potential juror should raise his or her hand if he or she had an answer to the question. 1 AA 0169. Some of the general questions asked were whether any of them had previously served as a juror, whether any of them had ever been a victim of a crime, and most notably here, whether any of them had ever been accused of a crime. 1 AA 185. Ms. Hughes (344) was among the potential thirty-two jurors that indicated she had never been accused of a crime. Id.

c. The State questions Ms. Hughes (344)

Appellant again tries to prove the State's malicious intent by indicating that the State mistakenly referred to Ms. Hughes (344) by the name of another African-American female on the panel. App. Brief, p. 17. The clear implication that Appellant wishes to make is that the mistaken name must be proof of a racist intent. First, this implies that attorneys never make a mistake when it comes to names in jury selection. However, even with the mistake, what is Appellant's insinuation? Appellant noticeably stops short of saying how this seemingly honest mistake is proof of anything at all. Instead, the inclusion and focus on this mistake seems only for the purpose of trying to evoke shock and awe that a person would mix up the names of two potential African-American jurors.

The State first questioned Ms. Hughes (344) on whether she had filled out a juror questionnaire. 1 AA 197. Ms. Hughes (344) indicated that she did not fill one out. The State then followed up by asking if she has any particular feelings about the criminal justice system, to which Ms. Hughes (344) answered that she did not. <u>Id.</u> She was asked about her feelings of law enforcement, and she was asked if she thought she would be a good fit for the jury. 1 AA 198. As this Court would see by the individual questions asked of the other jurors by the State, these questions were asked to nearly every other juror. The questions were not in any way specific to this juror.

d. The district court did not again question the panel after the State's questioning

The sequence of Appellant's brief seems to imply that the court then again asked questions of the panel, but this is not what occurred. As mentioned above, the sequence was qualifying questions, then individualized questions of the panel, general questions of the panel, and then passing the panel to the State for questioning. Thus, the court's question of whether any of the jurors had ever been accused of a crime came prior to the State's questioning. 1 AA 185.

2. The State challenges makes its challenges for cause

a. Ms. Hughes (344) (and others) challenged for cause

Although Appellant has focused entirely on the challenge to Ms. Hughes (344), it is relevant to examine the contemporaneous challenges that were made

because Ms. Hughes (344) was not uniquely situated. Instead, the State made challenges to all the potential jurors that had failed to disclose a prior arrest.

Following questions of the thirty-two member panel by the State, the district court entertained any State challenges for cause. At this junction, the State informed the court that it had run SCOPE (a criminal history database) and checked social media on all potential jurors, and that Ms. Hughes (344), Mr. Becenti (Juror 456), and Mr. Sanchez (Juror 570) appeared to have been previously arrested but did not disclose such arrests to the court. 2 AA 379. The State was exercising a challenge on them for failing to honestly disclose their prior arrests when asked by the court. 2 AA 398. The State also indicated a possible challenge on Mr. Deering (Juror 399) because of comments he made that he would potentially consider things beyond the evidence. Id.

When questioned further on the individual jurors that the State sought to excuse for cause, the State responded that Ms. Hughes (344) had a prior misdemeanor battery domestic violence conviction out of Henderson Municipal Court. 2 AA 395-396. Mr. Becenti (456) had a prior misdemeanor driving under the influence charge the year prior. 2 AA 396. Mr. Sanchez (570) was also challenged because of a prior driving under the influence arrest. The State also exercised a challenge as to a Mr. Lopez (586), who indicated that the criminal justice system

does not work because his brother continually is released from being arrested. 1 AA 399.

b. The defense objects to the challenges for cause

Appellant objected to all of the for cause challenges made by the State. The court entertained a response from Appellant on each of the jurors that was challenged.

When asked about Ms. Hughes (344), Appellant laid the groundwork for his eventual Batson challenge.

COURT: Does the defense have any objection to this challenge for cause?

DEFENSE: Yes, Your Honor.

COURT: Okay. Go ahead.

DEFENSE: Christina Hughes, our concern with Christina Hughes in the challenge is thus: One, she's an African-American female. She said nothing that would suggest she has any bias between both sides. She was very clear that she has no reason, and I quote: "No reason not to be fair to both sides" when asked. 2 AA 401.

Appellant responded first and foremost with the potential juror's race, but he did nothing to address the fact that Ms. Hughes had failed to disclose her prior arrest when asked. Defense goes on to argue against the challenge.

DEFENSE: Okay. And she said no reason not be fair, she could be fair to all parties and didn't say anything else. In terms of this misdemeanor battery DV out of 2015, you know, how many people did we talk to today that said, when Mr. Tanasi was asking them, it says here your race, that was a mistake. Okay. So people make mistakes.

COURT: Yeah. No question.

DEFENSE: No question.

COURT: They do on those questionnaires.

DEFENSE: I'm sorry?

COURT: They do – I Agree, they do all the time on those questionnaires.

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